

# Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Act 1999 No 46

[1999-46]



# **Status Information**

# **Currency of version**

Current version for 20 August 2024 to date (accessed 4 December 2024 at 19:42)

Legislation on this site is usually updated within 3 working days after a change to the legislation.

#### **Provisions in force**

The provisions displayed in this version of the legislation have all commenced.

#### **Responsible Minister**

• Minister for Better Regulation and Fair Trading

For full details of Ministerial responsibilities, see the Administrative Arrangements (Minns Ministry—Administration of Acts) Order 2023.

# Authorisation

This version of the legislation is compiled and maintained in a database of legislation by the Parliamentary Counsel's Office and published on the NSW legislation website, and is certified as the form of that legislation that is correct under section 45C of the Interpretation Act 1987.

File last modified 20 August 2024

# Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Act 1999 No 46



# Contents

Long title	6
Part 1 Preliminary	6
1 Name of Act	6
2 Commencement	6
3 Object of Act	6
4 Definitions	7
5 Definition of "construction work"	9
6 Definition of "related goods and services"	10
7 Application of Act	11
Part 2 Rights to progress payments	12
8 Right to progress payments	12
9 Amount of progress payment	13
10 Valuation of construction work and related goods and services	13
11 Due date for payment	14
12 Effect of "pay when paid" provisions	15
12A Trust account requirements for retention money	16
Part 3 Procedure for recovering progress payments	16
Division 1 Payment claims and payment schedules	16
13 Payment claims	16

32A Finding of jurisdictional error in adjudicator's determination	35
32B Application of Part to a claimant in liquidation	35
Part 3A Investigation and enforcement powers	35
Division 1 Preliminary	35
32C Authorised officers	35
32D Purposes for which functions under Part may be exercised	36
32E Extraterritorial application	36
Division 2 Information gathering powers	36
32F Exercise in conjunction with other powers	36
32G Power of authorised officers to require information and records	36
32H Power of authorised officers to require answers	37
Division 3 Entry to premises	37
32I Power of authorised officers to enter premises	37
32J Entry into residential premises only with permission or search warrant	
32K Search warrants	38
32L Power to require owner or occupier to provide assistance	
32M Powers that can be exercised on premises	39
32N Dealing with seized things	39
Division 4 Offences	40
320 Failure to comply with requirement under Part	40
32P False or misleading information	40
32Q Obstruction of authorised officer	40
Part 4 Miscellaneous	41
33 Act binds Crown	41
34 No contracting out	41
34A Proceedings for offences	41
34B Penalty notices	41
34C Liability of directors etc for offences by corporation—accessory to the commission of offence	es42
34D Liability of directors etc for specified offences by corporation—offences attracting executive	-
	43

Schedule 2 Savings and transitional provisions	.46
Schedule 1 (Repealed)	46
38 Review of Act	46
37 Savings and transitional provisions	46
36B (Repealed)	45
36A Delegation	45
36 Disclosure of information	45
35 Regulations	44

# Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Act 1999 No 46



An Act with respect to payments for construction work carried out, and related goods and services supplied, under construction contracts; and for other purposes.

# Part 1 Preliminary

# 1 Name of Act

This Act is the Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Act 1999.

#### 2 Commencement

This Act commences on a day or days to be appointed by proclamation.

# 3 Object of Act

- (1) The object of this Act is to ensure that any person who undertakes to carry out construction work (or who undertakes to supply related goods and services) under a construction contract is entitled to receive, and is able to recover, progress payments in relation to the carrying out of that work and the supplying of those goods and services.
- (2) The means by which this Act ensures that a person is entitled to receive a progress payment is by granting a statutory entitlement to such a payment regardless of whether the relevant construction contract makes provision for progress payments.
- (3) The means by which this Act ensures that a person is able to recover a progress payment is by establishing a procedure that involves—
  - (a) the making of a payment claim by the person claiming payment, and
  - (b) the provision of a payment schedule by the person by whom the payment is payable, and
  - (c) the referral of any disputed claim to an adjudicator for determination, and
  - (d) the payment of the progress payment so determined.

- (4) It is intended that this Act does not limit—
  - (a) any other entitlement that a claimant may have under a construction contract, or
  - (b) any other remedy that a claimant may have for recovering any such other entitlement.

### 4 Definitions

(1) In this Act—

**adjudicated amount** means the amount of a progress payment that an adjudicator determines to be payable, as referred to in section 22.

adjudication application means an application referred to in section 17.

**adjudication certificate** means a certificate provided by an authorised nominating authority under section 24.

*adjudication fees* means any fees or expenses charged by an authorised nominating authority, or by an adjudicator, under this Act.

adjudication response means a response referred to in section 20.

**adjudicator**, in relation to an adjudication application, means the person appointed in accordance with this Act to determine the application.

**authorised nominating authority** means a person authorised by the Minister under section 28 to nominate persons to determine adjudication applications.

business day means any day other than-

- (a) a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday, or
- (b) 27, 28, 29, 30 or 31 December.

*claimant* means a person by whom a payment claim is served under section 13.

**claimed amount** means an amount of a progress payment claimed to be due for construction work carried out, or for related goods and services supplied, as referred to in section 13.

**construction contract** means a contract or other arrangement under which one party undertakes to carry out construction work, or to supply related goods and services, for another party.

construction work is defined in section 5.

**Department** means the department in which this Act is administered.

*due date*, in relation to a progress payment, means the due date for the progress payment, as referred to in section 11.

# exempt residential construction contract means-

- (a) a construction contract that is connected with an owner occupier construction contract, or
- (b) any other type of construction contract for the carrying out of residential building work that is prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this definition.

exercise a function includes perform a duty.

function includes a power, authority or duty.

**head contractor** means the person who is to carry out construction work or supply related goods and services for the principal under a construction contract (the **main contract**) and for whom construction work is to be carried out or related goods and services supplied under a construction contract as part of or incidental to the work or goods and services carried out or supplied under the main contract. **Note**—

There is no head contractor when the principal contracts directly with subcontractors.

**owner occupier construction contract** means a construction contract for the carrying out of residential building work within the meaning of the *Home Building Act* 1989 on such part of any premises as the party for whom the work is carried out resides or proposes to reside in.

payment claim means a claim referred to in section 13.

payment schedule means a schedule referred to in section 14.

**principal** means the person for whom construction work is to be carried out or related goods and services supplied under a construction contract (the **main contract**) and who is not themselves engaged under a construction contract to carry out construction work or supply related goods and services as part of or incidental to the work or goods and services carried out or supplied under the main contract.

**progress payment** means a payment to which a person is entitled under section 8, and includes (without affecting any such entitlement)—

- (a) the final payment for construction work carried out (or for related goods and services supplied) under a construction contract, or
- (b) a single or one-off payment for carrying out construction work (or for supplying related goods and services) under a construction contract, or
- (c) a payment that is based on an event or date (known in the building and

construction industry as a "milestone payment").

**recognised financial institution** means a bank or any other person or body prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this definition.

related goods and services is defined in section 6.

*respondent* means a person on whom a payment claim is served under section 13.

**scheduled amount** means the amount of a progress payment that is proposed to be made under a payment schedule, as referred to in section 14.

**Secretary** means the Secretary of the Department.

**subcontractor** means a person who is to carry out construction work or supply related goods and services under a construction contract otherwise than as head contractor.

#### Note—

A subcontractor's contract can be with the head contractor or (when there is no head contractor) with the principal directly.

#### Note—

The *Interpretation Act 1987* contains definitions and other provisions that affect the interpretation and application of this Act.

- (2) A reference in this Act to a contract that is connected with an owner occupier construction contract is a reference to a construction contract to carry out construction work or supply related goods and services as part of or incidental to the work or goods and services carried out or supplied under the owner occupier construction contract.
- (3) Notes included in this Act do not form part of this Act.

#### 5 Definition of "construction work"

- (1) In this Act, *construction work* means any of the following work—
  - (a) the construction, alteration, repair, restoration, maintenance, extension, demolition or dismantling of buildings or structures forming, or to form, part of land (whether permanent or not),
  - (b) the construction, alteration, repair, restoration, maintenance, extension, demolition or dismantling of any works forming, or to form, part of land, including walls, roadworks, power-lines, telecommunication apparatus, aircraft runways, docks and harbours, railways, inland waterways, pipelines, reservoirs, water mains, wells, sewers, industrial plant and installations for purposes of land drainage or coast protection,

- (c) the installation in any building, structure or works of fittings forming, or to form, part of land, including heating, lighting, air-conditioning, ventilation, power supply, drainage, sanitation, water supply, fire protection, security and communications systems,
- (d) the external or internal cleaning of buildings, structures and works, so far as it is carried out in the course of their construction, alteration, repair, restoration, maintenance or extension,
- (e) any operation which forms an integral part of, or is preparatory to or is for rendering complete, work of the kind referred to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c), including—
  - (i) site clearance, earth-moving, excavation, tunnelling and boring, and
  - (ii) the laying of foundations, and
  - (iii) the erection, maintenance or dismantling of scaffolding, and
  - (iv) the prefabrication of components to form part of any building, structure or works, whether carried out on-site or off-site, and
  - (v) site restoration, landscaping and the provision of roadways and other access works,
- (f) the painting or decorating of the internal or external surfaces of any building, structure or works,
- (g) any other work of a kind prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this subsection.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), *construction work* does not include any of the following work—
  - (a) the drilling for, or extraction of, oil or natural gas,
  - (b) the extraction (whether by underground or surface working) of minerals, including tunnelling or boring, or constructing underground works, for that purpose,
  - (c) any other work of a kind prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this subsection.

#### 6 Definition of "related goods and services"

- In this Act, *related goods and services*, in relation to construction work, means any of the following goods and services—
  - (a) goods of the following kind-

- (i) materials and components to form part of any building, structure or work arising from construction work,
- (ii) plant or materials (whether supplied by sale, hire or otherwise) for use in connection with the carrying out of construction work,
- (b) services of the following kind-
  - (i) the provision of labour to carry out construction work,
  - (ii) architectural, design, surveying or quantity surveying services in relation to construction work,
  - (iii) building, engineering, interior or exterior decoration or landscape advisory services in relation to construction work,
- (c) goods and services of a kind prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this subsection.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), *related goods and services* does not include any goods or services of a kind prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this subsection.
- (3) In this Act, a reference to related goods and services includes a reference to related goods or services.

# 7 Application of Act

- (1) Subject to this section, this Act applies to any construction contract, whether written or oral, or partly written and partly oral, and so applies even if the contract is expressed to be governed by the law of a jurisdiction other than New South Wales.
- (2) This Act does not apply to—
  - (a) a construction contract that forms part of a loan agreement, a contract of guarantee or a contract of insurance under which a recognised financial institution undertakes—
    - (i) to lend money or to repay money lent, or
    - (ii) to guarantee payment of money owing or repayment of money lent, or
    - (iii) to provide an indemnity with respect to construction work carried out, or related goods and services supplied, under the construction contract, or
  - (b) (Repealed)
  - (c) a construction contract under which it is agreed that the consideration payable for construction work carried out under the contract, or for related goods and services supplied under the contract, is to be calculated otherwise than by reference to the

value of the work carried out or the value of the goods and services supplied.

- (3) This Act does not apply to a construction contract to the extent to which it contains—
  - (a) provisions under which a party undertakes to carry out construction work, or supply related goods and services, as an employee (within the meaning of the *Industrial Relations Act 1996*) of the party for whom the work is to be carried out or the related goods and services are to be supplied, or
  - (b) provisions under which a party undertakes to carry out construction work, or to supply related goods and services, as a condition of a loan agreement with a recognised financial institution, or
  - (c) provisions under which a party undertakes—
    - (i) to lend money or to repay money lent, or
    - (ii) to guarantee payment of money owing or repayment of money lent, or
    - (iii) to provide an indemnity with respect to construction work carried out, or related goods and services supplied, under the construction contract.
- (4) This Act does not apply to a construction contract to the extent to which it deals with—
  - (a) construction work carried out outside New South Wales, and
  - (b) related goods and services supplied in respect of construction work carried out outside New South Wales.
- (5) This Act does not apply to any construction contract, or class of construction contracts, prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this section.

# Part 2 Rights to progress payments

#### 8 Right to progress payments

- A person who, under a construction contract, has undertaken to carry out construction work or to supply related goods and services is entitled to receive a progress payment.
- (2) A person is not entitled to a progress payment under subsection (1) if the construction contract—
  - (a) does not comply with the Home Building Act 1989, section 4, or
  - (b) involves construction work that is residential building work done in contravention of the *Home Building Act 1989*, section 92.

#### 9 Amount of progress payment

The amount of a progress payment to which a person is entitled in respect of a construction contract is to be—

- (a) the amount calculated in accordance with the terms of the contract, or
- (b) if the contract makes no express provision with respect to the matter, the amount calculated on the basis of the value of construction work carried out or undertaken to be carried out by the person (or of related goods and services supplied or undertaken to be supplied by the person) under the contract.

#### **10** Valuation of construction work and related goods and services

- (1) Construction work carried out or undertaken to be carried out under a construction contract is to be valued—
  - (a) in accordance with the terms of the contract, or
  - (b) if the contract makes no express provision with respect to the matter, having regard to—
    - (i) the contract price for the work, and
    - (ii) any other rates or prices set out in the contract, and
    - (iii) any variation agreed to by the parties to the contract by which the contract price, or any other rate or price set out in the contract, is to be adjusted by a specific amount, and
    - (iv) if any of the work is defective, the estimated cost of rectifying the defect.
- (2) Related goods and services supplied or undertaken to be supplied under a construction contract are to be valued—
  - (a) in accordance with the terms of the contract, or
  - (b) if the contract makes no express provision with respect to the matter, having regard to—
    - (i) the contract price for the goods and services, and
    - (ii) any other rates or prices set out in the contract, and
    - (iii) any variation agreed to by the parties to the contract by which the contract price, or any other rate or price set out in the contract, is to be adjusted by a specific amount, and
    - (iv) if any of the goods are defective, the estimated cost of rectifying the defect,

and, in the case of materials and components that are to form part of any building, structure or work arising from construction work, on the basis that the only materials and components to be included in the valuation are those that have become (or, on payment, will become) the property of the party for whom construction work is being carried out.

#### **11** Due date for payment

- (1) Subject to this section and any other law, a progress payment to be made under a construction contract is payable in accordance with the applicable terms of the contract.
- (1A) A progress payment to be made by a principal to a head contractor under a construction contract (other than an exempt residential construction contract) becomes due and payable on—
  - (a) the date occurring 15 business days after a payment claim is made under Part 3 in relation to the payment, except to the extent paragraph (b) applies, or
  - (b) an earlier date as provided in accordance with the terms of the contract.
- (1B) A progress payment to be made to a subcontractor under a construction contract (other than an exempt residential construction contract) becomes due and payable on—
  - (a) the date occurring 20 business days after a payment claim is made under Part 3 in relation to the payment, except to the extent paragraph (b) applies, or
  - (b) an earlier date as provided in accordance with the terms of the contract.
- (1C) A progress payment to be made under an exempt residential construction contract becomes due and payable—
  - (a) on the date on which the payment becomes due and payable in accordance with the terms of the contract, or
  - (b) if the contract makes no express provision with respect to the matter, on the date occurring 10 business days after a payment claim is made under Part 3 in relation to the payment.
- (2) Interest is payable on the unpaid amount of a progress payment that has become due and payable at the rate—
  - (a) prescribed under section 101 of the Civil Procedure Act 2005, or
  - (b) specified under the construction contract,

whichever is the greater.

- (3) If a progress payment becomes due and payable, the claimant is entitled to exercise a lien in respect of the unpaid amount over any unfixed plant or materials supplied by the claimant for use in connection with the carrying out of construction work for the respondent.
- (4) Any lien or charge over the unfixed plant or materials existing before the date on which the progress payment becomes due and payable takes priority over a lien under subsection (3).
- (5) Subsection (3) does not confer on the claimant any right against a third party who is the owner of the unfixed plant or materials.
- (6) Except as otherwise provided by this section, the rules and principles of the common law and equity apply to the determination of priorities between a lien under subsection (3) over any unfixed plant and materials and any other interest in the plant and materials.
- (7) Section 73(2) of the *Personal Property Securities Act 2009* of the Commonwealth is declared to apply to liens under subsection (3).
- (8) A provision in a construction contract has no effect to the extent it allows for payment of a progress payment later than the relevant date it becomes due and payable under subsection (1A) or (1B).

# 12 Effect of "pay when paid" provisions

- A pay when paid provision of a construction contract has no effect in relation to any payment for construction work carried out or undertaken to be carried out (or for related goods and services supplied or undertaken to be supplied) under the contract.
- (2) In this section—

**money owing**, in relation to a construction contract, means money owing for construction work carried out or undertaken to be carried out (or for related goods and services supplied or undertaken to be supplied) under the contract.

**pay when paid provision** of a construction contract means a provision of the contract—

- (a) that makes the liability of one party (the *first party*) to pay money owing to another party (the *second party*) contingent on payment to the first party by a further party (the *third party*) of the whole or any part of that money, or
- (b) that makes the due date for payment of money owing by the first party to the second party dependent on the date on which payment of the whole or any part of that money is made to the first party by the third party, or
- (c) that otherwise makes the liability to pay money owing, or the due date for

payment of money owing, contingent or dependent on the operation of another contract.

### 12A Trust account requirements for retention money

- (1) The regulations may make provision for or with respect to requiring retention money to be held in trust for the subcontractor entitled to the money and requiring the head contractor who holds retention money to pay the money into a trust account (a *retention money trust account*) established and operated in accordance with the regulations.
- (2) The regulations may provide for the trust account into which retention money is to be paid to be a trust account established with a financial institution by the head contractor or a trust account established and operated by the Small Business Commissioner.
- (3) Without limitation, the regulations under this section may include provision for or with respect to the following—
  - (a) the procedures to be followed in connection with the authorisation of payments out of a retention money trust account,
  - (b) the keeping of records in connection with the operation of a retention money trust account and the inspection of those records by the Small Business Commissioner or the subcontractor entitled to the retention money,
  - (c) the resolution of disputes in connection with the operation of a retention money trust account.
- (4) A regulation may create an offence punishable by a penalty not exceeding 1,000 penalty units for any failure to comply with the requirements of the regulations under this section.
- (5) In this section, *retention money* means money retained by a head contractor out of money payable by the head contractor to a subcontractor under a construction contract, as security for the performance of obligations of the subcontractor under the contract.

# Part 3 Procedure for recovering progress payments

# **Division 1 Payment claims and payment schedules**

# 13 Payment claims

(1) A person referred to in section 8 who is or who claims to be entitled to a progress payment (the *claimant*) may serve a payment claim on the person who, under the construction contract concerned, is or may be liable to make the payment.

- (1A) A payment claim may be served on and from the last day of the named month in which the construction work was first carried out (or the related goods and services were first supplied) under the contract and on and from the last day of each subsequent named month.
- (1B) However, if the construction contract concerned makes provision for an earlier date for the serving of a payment claim in any particular named month, the claim may be served on and from that date instead of on and from the last day of that month.
- (1C) In the case of a construction contract that has been terminated, a payment claim may be served on and from the date of termination.
- (2) A payment claim—
  - (a) must identify the construction work (or related goods and services) to which the progress payment relates, and
  - (b) must indicate the amount of the progress payment that the claimant claims to be due (the *claimed amount*), and
  - (c) must state that it is made under this Act.
- (3) The claimed amount may include any amount—
  - (a) that the respondent is liable to pay the claimant under section 27(2A), or
  - (b) that is held under the construction contract by the respondent and that the claimant claims is due for release.
- (4) A payment claim may be served only within—
  - (a) the period determined by or in accordance with the terms of the construction contract, or
  - (b) the period of 12 months after the construction work to which the claim relates was last carried out (or the related goods and services to which the claim relates were last supplied),

whichever is the later.

- (5) Except as otherwise provided for in the construction contract, a claimant may only serve one payment claim in any particular named month for construction work carried out or undertaken to be carried out (or for related goods and services supplied or undertaken to be supplied) in that month.
- (6) Subsection (5) does not prevent the claimant from—
  - (a) serving a single payment claim in respect of more than one progress payment, or

- (b) including in a payment claim an amount that has been the subject of a previous claim, or
- (c) serving a payment claim in a particular named month for construction work carried out or undertaken to be carried out (or for related goods and services supplied or undertaken to be supplied) in a previous named month.
- (7) A head contractor must not serve a payment claim on the principal unless the claim is accompanied by a supporting statement that indicates that it relates to that payment claim.

Maximum penalty—1,000 penalty units in the case of a corporation or 200 penalty units in the case of an individual.

(8) A head contractor must not serve a payment claim on the principal accompanied by a supporting statement knowing that the statement is false or misleading in a material particular in the particular circumstances.

Maximum penalty—1,000 penalty units in the case of a corporation or 200 penalty units or 3 months imprisonment (or both) in the case of an individual.

(9) In this section—

**supporting statement** means a statement that is in the form approved by the Secretary and (without limitation) that includes a declaration to the effect that all subcontractors, if any, have been paid all amounts that have become due and payable in relation to the construction work concerned.

#### Note-

An offence against subsection (7) or (8) committed by a corporation is an executive liability offence attracting executive liability for a director or other person involved in the management of the corporation—see section 34D.

# 14 Payment schedules

- (1) A person on whom a payment claim is served (the *respondent*) may reply to the claim by providing a payment schedule to the claimant.
- (2) A payment schedule—
  - (a) must identify the payment claim to which it relates, and
  - (b) must indicate the amount of the payment (if any) that the respondent proposes to make (the *scheduled amount*).
- (3) If the scheduled amount is less than the claimed amount, the schedule must indicate why the scheduled amount is less and (if it is less because the respondent is withholding payment for any reason) the respondent's reasons for withholding payment.

- (4) If—
  - (a) a claimant serves a payment claim on a respondent, and
  - (b) the respondent does not provide a payment schedule to the claimant-
    - (i) within the time required by the relevant construction contract, or
    - (ii) within 10 business days after the payment claim is served,

whichever time expires earlier,

the respondent becomes liable to pay the claimed amount to the claimant on the due date for the progress payment to which the payment claim relates.

# **15** Consequences of not paying claimant where no payment schedule

- (1) This section applies if the respondent—
  - (a) becomes liable to pay the claimed amount to the claimant under section 14(4) as a consequence of having failed to provide a payment schedule to the claimant within the time allowed by that section, and
  - (b) fails to pay the whole or any part of the claimed amount on or before the due date for the progress payment to which the payment claim relates.
- (2) In those circumstances, the claimant—
  - (a) may—
    - (i) recover the unpaid portion of the claimed amount from the respondent, as a debt due to the claimant, in any court of competent jurisdiction, or
    - (ii) make an adjudication application under section 17(1)(b) in relation to the payment claim, and
  - (b) may serve notice on the respondent of the claimant's intention to suspend carrying out construction work (or to suspend supplying related goods and services) under the construction contract.
- (3) A notice referred to in subsection (2)(b) must state that it is made under this Act.
- (4) If the claimant commences proceedings under subsection (2)(a)(i) to recover the unpaid portion of the claimed amount from the respondent as a debt—
  - (a) judgment in favour of the claimant is not to be given unless the court is satisfied of the existence of the circumstances referred to in subsection (1), and
  - (b) the respondent is not, in those proceedings, entitled—
    - (i) to bring any cross-claim against the claimant, or

(ii) to raise any defence in relation to matters arising under the construction contract.

#### **16** Consequences of not paying claimant in accordance with payment schedule

- (1) This section applies if—
  - (a) a claimant serves a payment claim on a respondent, and
  - (b) the respondent provides a payment schedule to the claimant—
    - (i) within the time required by the relevant construction contract, or
    - (ii) within 10 business days after the payment claim is served,

whichever time expires earlier, and

- (c) the payment schedule indicates a scheduled amount that the respondent proposes to pay to the claimant, and
- (d) the respondent fails to pay the whole or any part of the scheduled amount to the claimant on or before the due date for the progress payment to which the payment claim relates.
- (2) In those circumstances, the claimant—
  - (a) may—
    - (i) recover the unpaid portion of the scheduled amount from the respondent, as a debt due to the claimant, in any court of competent jurisdiction, or
    - (ii) make an adjudication application under section 17(1)(a)(ii) in relation to the payment claim, and
  - (b) may serve notice on the respondent of the claimant's intention to suspend carrying out construction work (or to suspend supplying related goods and services) under the construction contract.
- (3) A notice referred to in subsection (2)(b) must state that it is made under this Act.
- (4) If the claimant commences proceedings under subsection (2)(a)(i) to recover the unpaid portion of the scheduled amount from the respondent as a debt—
  - (a) judgment in favour of the claimant is not to be given unless the court is satisfied of the existence of the circumstances referred to in subsection (1), and
  - (b) the respondent is not, in those proceedings, entitled—
    - (i) to bring any cross-claim against the claimant, or
    - (ii) to raise any defence in relation to matters arising under the construction

contract.

# **Division 2 Adjudication of disputes**

# 17 Adjudication applications

- (1) A claimant may apply for adjudication of a payment claim (an *adjudication application*) if—
  - (a) the respondent provides a payment schedule under Division 1 but-
    - (i) the scheduled amount indicated in the payment schedule is less than the claimed amount indicated in the payment claim, or
    - (ii) the respondent fails to pay the whole or any part of the scheduled amount to the claimant by the due date for payment of the amount, or
  - (b) the respondent fails to provide a payment schedule to the claimant under Division 1 and fails to pay the whole or any part of the claimed amount by the due date for payment of the amount.
- (2) An adjudication application to which subsection (1)(b) applies cannot be made unless—
  - (a) the claimant has served written notice on the respondent, within the period of 20 business days immediately following the due date for payment, of the claimant's intention to apply for adjudication of the payment claim, and
  - (b) the respondent has been given an opportunity to provide a payment schedule to the claimant within 5 business days after receiving the claimant's notice.
- (3) An adjudication application—
  - (a) must be in writing, and
  - (b) must be made to an authorised nominating authority chosen by the claimant, and
  - (c) in the case of an application under subsection (1)(a)(i)—must be made within 10 business days after the claimant receives the payment schedule, and
  - (d) in the case of an application under subsection (1)(a)(ii)—must be made within 20 business days after the due date for payment, and
  - (e) in the case of an application under subsection (1)(b)—must be made within 10 business days after the end of the 5-day period referred to in subsection (2)(b), and
  - (f) must identify the payment claim and the payment schedule (if any) to which it relates, and

- (g) must be accompanied by such application fee (if any) as may be determined by the authorised nominating authority, and
- (h) may contain such submissions relevant to the application as the claimant chooses to include.
- (4) The amount of any such application fee must not exceed the amount (if any) determined by the Minister.
- (5) A copy of an adjudication application must be served on the respondent concerned.
- (6) It is the duty of the authorised nominating authority to which an adjudication application is made to refer the application to an adjudicator (being a person who is eligible to be an adjudicator as referred to in section 18) as soon as practicable.

#### 17A Withdrawal of application

- (1) A claimant may withdraw an adjudication application at any time-
  - (a) before an adjudicator is appointed to determine the application, or
  - (b) if an adjudicator has been appointed—before the application is determined,

by serving written notice of the withdrawal on the respondent and on the authorised nominating authority or the adjudicator (if any).

(2) If an adjudicator has been appointed to determine an adjudication application, the withdrawal of the application does not have effect if any other party to the construction contract concerned objects to the withdrawal and, in the opinion of the adjudicator, it is in the interests of justice to uphold the objection.

#### 18 Eligibility criteria for adjudicators

- (1) A person is eligible to be an adjudicator in relation to a construction contract—
  - (a) if the person is a natural person, and
  - (b) if the person has such qualifications, expertise and experience as may be prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this section.
- (2) A person is not eligible to be an adjudicator in relation to a particular construction contract—
  - (a) if the person is a party to the contract, or
  - (b) in such circumstances as may be prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this section.

#### 19 Appointment of adjudicator

- If an authorised nominating authority refers an adjudication application to an adjudicator, the adjudicator may accept the adjudication application by causing notice of the acceptance to be served on the claimant and the respondent.
- (2) On accepting an adjudication application, the adjudicator is taken to have been appointed to determine the application.

#### 20 Adjudication responses

- Subject to subsection (2A), the respondent may lodge with the adjudicator a response to the claimant's adjudication application (the *adjudication response*) at any time within—
  - (a) 5 business days after receiving a copy of the application, or
  - (b) 2 business days after receiving notice of an adjudicator's acceptance of the application,

whichever time expires later.

- (2) The adjudication response—
  - (a) must be in writing, and
  - (b) must identify the adjudication application to which it relates, and
  - (c) may contain such submissions relevant to the response as the respondent chooses to include.
- (2A) The respondent may lodge an adjudication response only if the respondent has provided a payment schedule to the claimant within the time specified in section 14(4) or 17(2)(b).
- (2B) The respondent cannot include in the adjudication response any reasons for withholding payment unless those reasons have already been included in the payment schedule provided to the claimant.
- (3) A copy of the adjudication response must be served on the claimant.

#### 21 Adjudication procedures

- (1) An adjudicator is not to determine an adjudication application until after the end of the period within which the respondent may lodge an adjudication response.
- (2) An adjudicator is not to consider an adjudication response unless it was made before the end of the period within which the respondent may lodge such a response.
- (3) Subject to subsections (1) and (2), an adjudicator is to determine an adjudication

application as expeditiously as possible and, in any case-

- (a) within 10 business days after—
  - (i) if the respondent is entitled to lodge an adjudication response under section 20—the date on which the respondent lodges the response or, if a response is not lodged, the end of the period within which the respondent was entitled to lodge a response, or
  - (ii) in any other case—the date on which notice of the adjudicator's acceptance of the application is served on the claimant and the respondent, or
- (b) within such further time as the claimant and the respondent may agree.
- (4) For the purposes of any proceedings conducted to determine an adjudication application, an adjudicator—
  - (a) may request further written submissions from either party and must give the other party an opportunity to comment on those submissions, and
  - (b) may set deadlines for further submissions and comments by the parties, and
  - (c) may call a conference of the parties, and
  - (d) may carry out an inspection of any matter to which the claim relates.
- (4A) If any such conference is called, it is to be conducted informally and the parties are not entitled to any legal representation.
- (5) The adjudicator's power to determine an adjudication application is not affected by the failure of either or both of the parties to make a submission or comment within time or to comply with the adjudicator's call for a conference of the parties.

#### 22 Adjudicator's determination

- (1) An adjudicator is to determine-
  - (a) the amount of the progress payment (if any) to be paid by the respondent to the claimant (the *adjudicated amount*), and
  - (b) the date on which any such amount became or becomes payable, and
  - (c) the rate of interest payable on any such amount.
- (2) In determining an adjudication application, the adjudicator is to consider the following matters only—
  - (a) the provisions of this Act,
  - (b) the provisions of the construction contract from which the application arose,

- (c) the payment claim to which the application relates, together with all submissions (including relevant documentation) that have been duly made by the claimant in support of the claim,
- (d) the payment schedule (if any) to which the application relates, together with all submissions (including relevant documentation) that have been duly made by the respondent in support of the schedule,
- (e) the results of any inspection carried out by the adjudicator of any matter to which the claim relates.
- (3) The adjudicator's determination must—
  - (a) be in writing, and
  - (b) include the reasons for the determination (unless the claimant and the respondent have both requested the adjudicator not to include those reasons in the determination), and
  - (c) be served by the adjudicator on the claimant and the respondent.
- (4) If, in determining an adjudication application, an adjudicator has, in accordance with section 10, determined—
  - (a) the value of any construction work carried out under a construction contract, or
  - (b) the value of any related goods and services supplied under a construction contract,

the adjudicator (or any other adjudicator) is, in any subsequent adjudication application that involves the determination of the value of that work or of those goods and services, to give the work (or the goods and services) the same value as that previously determined unless the claimant or respondent satisfies the adjudicator concerned that the value of the work (or the goods and services) has changed since the previous determination.

- (5) If the adjudicator's determination contains-
  - (a) a clerical mistake, or
  - (b) an error arising from an accidental slip or omission, or
  - (c) a material miscalculation of figures or a material mistake in the description of any person, thing or matter referred to in the determination, or
  - (d) a defect of form,

the adjudicator may, on the adjudicator's own initiative or on the application of the claimant or the respondent, correct the determination.

#### 23 Respondent required to pay adjudicated amount

(1) In this section—

# *relevant date* means—

- (a) the date occurring 5 business days after the date on which the adjudicator's determination is served by the adjudicator on the respondent concerned, or
- (b) if the adjudicator determines a later date under section 22(1)(b)—that later date.
- (2) If an adjudicator determines that a respondent is required to pay an adjudicated amount, the respondent must pay that amount to the claimant on or before the relevant date.

# 24 Consequences of not paying claimant adjudicated amount

- (1) If the respondent fails to pay the whole or any part of the adjudicated amount to the claimant in accordance with section 23, the claimant may—
  - (a) request the authorised nominating authority to whom the adjudication application was made to provide an adjudication certificate under this section, and
  - (b) serve notice on the respondent of the claimant's intention to suspend carrying out construction work (or to suspend supplying related goods and services) under the construction contract.
- (2) A notice under subsection (1)(b) must state that it is made under this Act.
- (3) An adjudication certificate must state that it is made under this Act and specify the following matters—
  - (a) the name of the claimant,
  - (b) the name of the respondent who is liable to pay the adjudicated amount,
  - (c) the adjudicated amount,
  - (d) the date on which payment of the adjudicated amount was due to be paid to the claimant.
- (4) If any amount of interest that is due and payable on the adjudicated amount is not paid by the respondent, the claimant may request the authorised nominating authority to specify the amount of interest payable in the adjudication certificate. If it is specified in the adjudication certificate, any such amount is to be added to (and becomes part of) the adjudicated amount.
- (5) If the claimant has paid the respondent's share of the adjudication fees in relation to the adjudication but has not been reimbursed by the respondent for that amount (the *unpaid share*), the claimant may request the authorised nominating authority to

specify the unpaid share in the adjudication certificate. If it is specified in the adjudication certificate, any such unpaid share is to be added to (and becomes part of) the adjudicated amount.

### 25 Filing of adjudication certificate as judgment debt

- (1) An adjudication certificate may be filed as a judgment for a debt in any court of competent jurisdiction and is enforceable accordingly.
- (2) An adjudication certificate cannot be filed under this section unless it is accompanied by an affidavit by the claimant stating that the whole or any part of the adjudicated amount has not been paid at the time the certificate is filed.
- (3) If the affidavit indicates that part of the adjudicated amount has been paid, the judgment is for the unpaid part of that amount only.
- (4) If the respondent commences proceedings to have the judgment set aside, the respondent—
  - (a) is not, in those proceedings, entitled-
    - (i) to bring any cross-claim against the claimant, or
    - (ii) to raise any defence in relation to matters arising under the construction contract, or
    - (iii) to challenge the adjudicator's determination, and
  - (b) is required to pay into the court as security the unpaid portion of the adjudicated amount pending the final determination of those proceedings.

#### 26 Claimant may make new application in certain circumstances

- (1) This section applies if—
  - (a) a claimant fails to receive an adjudicator's notice of acceptance of an adjudication application within 4 business days after the application is made, or
  - (b) an adjudicator who accepts an adjudication application fails to determine the application within the time allowed by section 21(3).
- (2) In either of those circumstances, the claimant—
  - (a) may withdraw the application, by notice in writing served on the adjudicator or authorised nominating authority to whom the application was made, and
  - (b) may make a new adjudication application under section 17.
- (3) Despite section 17(3)(c), (d) and (e), a new adjudication application may be made at any time within 5 business days after the claimant becomes entitled to withdraw the

previous adjudication application under subsection (2).

(4) This Division applies to a new application referred to in this section in the same way as it applies to an application under section 17.

# **Division 2A Claimant's rights against principal contractor**

#### 26A Principal contractor can be required to retain money owed to respondent

- (1) A claimant who has made an adjudication application for a payment claim can require a principal contractor for the claim to retain sufficient money to cover the claim out of money that is or becomes payable by the principal contractor to the respondent.
- (2) Such a requirement is made by serving on the principal contractor a request (a *payment withholding request*) in the form approved by the Secretary.
- (3) A payment withholding request must include a statement in writing by the claimant in the form of a statutory declaration declaring that the claimant genuinely believes that the amount of money claimed is owed by the respondent to the claimant.
- (4) A *principal contractor* for a claim is a person by whom money is or becomes payable to the respondent for work carried out or materials supplied by the respondent to the person as part of or incidental to the work or materials that the respondent engaged the claimant to carry out or supply.
- (5) A person who is served with a payment withholding request must, if the person is not (or is no longer) a principal contractor for the claim, give notice to that effect to the claimant concerned within 10 business days after receiving the request.

Maximum penalty—50 penalty units in the case of a corporation or 10 penalty units in the case of an individual.

#### Note-

A person may no longer be a principal contractor as a result of money owed to the respondent having been paid by the person before the payment withholding request was served.

#### 26B Obligation of principal contractor to retain money owed to respondent

- (1) A principal contractor who has been served with a payment withholding request must retain, out of money owed to the respondent, the amount of money to which the payment claim relates (or the amount owed by the principal contractor to the respondent if that amount is less than the amount to which the payment claim relates).
- (2) The amount is only required to be retained out of money that is or becomes payable by the principal contractor to the respondent for work carried out or materials supplied by the respondent to the principal contractor as part of or incidental to the work or materials that the respondent engaged the claimant to carry out or supply.

- (3) The obligation to retain money under this section remains in force only until whichever of the following happens first—
  - (a) the adjudication application for the payment claim is withdrawn and the claimant does not make a new adjudication application in accordance with section 26,
  - (a1) the adjudicator fails to determine the adjudication application in accordance with section 21 and the claimant does not make a new adjudication application in accordance with section 26,
  - (b) the respondent pays to the claimant the amount claimed to be due under the payment claim,
  - (c) the claimant serves a notice of claim on the principal contractor for the purposes of section 6 of the *Contractors Debts Act 1997* in respect of the payment claim,
  - (d) a period of 20 business days elapses after a copy of the adjudicator's determination of the adjudication application is served on the principal contractor.
- (4) A part payment of the amount claimed to be due under the payment claim removes the obligation under this section to retain money to the extent of the payment.
- (5) When the claimant's adjudication application is determined, the claimant must serve a copy of the adjudicator's determination on the principal contractor within 5 business days after the adjudicator's determination is served on the claimant.

Maximum penalty—50 penalty units in the case of a corporation or 10 penalty units in the case of an individual.

# 26C Contravention of requirement by principal contractor

- (1) If a principal contractor discharges the principal contractor's obligation to pay money owed under a contract to the respondent in contravention of a requirement under this Division to retain the money, the principal contractor becomes jointly and severally liable with the respondent in respect of the debt owed by the respondent to the claimant (but only to the extent of the amount of money to which the contravention relates).
- (2) The principal contractor can recover as a debt from the respondent any amount that the claimant recovers from the principal contractor pursuant to a right of action conferred by this section.

# 26D Protections for principal contractor

(1) An obligation under this Division to retain money owed by a principal contractor to the respondent operates (while the obligation continues) as a defence against recovery of the money by the respondent from the principal contractor.

- (2) Any period for which a principal contractor retains money pursuant to an obligation under this Division is not to be taken into account for the purposes of reckoning any period for which money owed by the principal contractor to the respondent has been unpaid.
- (3) A claimant who has served a payment withholding request on a principal contractor in connection with an adjudication application must, if the adjudication application is withdrawn, give the principal contractor written notice of the withdrawal of the application within 5 business days after it is withdrawn.

Maximum penalty—50 penalty units in the case of a corporation or 10 penalty units in the case of an individual.

- (4) The principal contractor is entitled to rely in good faith on a statement in writing by the respondent in the form of a statutory declaration that—
  - (a) a specified amount claimed to be due under an adjudication application has been paid, or
  - (b) an adjudication application has been withdrawn.

# 26E Respondent to provide information about principal contractor

- (1) An adjudicator may, in connection with an adjudication application and at the request of the claimant, direct the respondent to provide information to the claimant as to the identity and contact details of any person who is a principal contractor in relation to the claim.
- (2) A respondent must comply with a direction of an adjudicator under this section.

Maximum penalty—50 penalty units in the case of a corporation or 10 penalty units in the case of an individual.

(3) A respondent must not, in purported compliance with a direction of an adjudicator under this section, provide information that the respondent knows is false or misleading in a material particular.

Maximum penalty—50 penalty units in the case of a corporation or 10 penalty units in the case of an individual.

# 26F Other rights of claimant not affected

This Division (including any action taken by a claimant under this Division) does not limit or otherwise affect the taking of any other action by a claimant to enforce a payment claim or adjudication determination.

# Division 3 Claimant's right to suspend construction work

# 27 Claimant may suspend work

- A claimant may suspend the carrying out of construction work (or the supply of related goods and services) under a construction contract if at least 2 business days have passed since the claimant has caused notice of intention to do so to be given to the respondent under section 15, 16 or 24.
- (2) The right conferred by subsection (1) exists until the end of the period of 3 business days immediately following the date on which the claimant receives payment for the amount that is payable by the respondent under section 15(1), 16(1) or 23(2).
- (2A) If the claimant, in exercising the right to suspend the carrying out of construction work or the supply of related goods and services, incurs any loss or expenses as a result of the removal by the respondent from the contract of any part of the work or supply, the respondent is liable to pay the claimant the amount of any such loss or expenses.
- (3) A claimant who suspends construction work (or the supply of related goods and services) in accordance with the right conferred by subsection (1) is not liable for any loss or damage suffered by the respondent, or by any person claiming through the respondent, as a consequence of the claimant not carrying out that work (or not supplying those goods and services) during the period of suspension.

# **Division 4 General**

# 28 Nominating authorities

- (1) Subject to the regulations, the Minister-
  - (a) may, on application made by any person, authorise the applicant to nominate adjudicators for the purposes of this Act, and
  - (b) may withdraw any authority so given.
- (1A) The Minister may-
  - (a) limit the number of persons who may, for the time being, be authorised under this section, and
  - (b) refuse an application under subsection (1) if authorising the applicant would result in any such number being exceeded.
- (1B) An authority under this section may be given unconditionally or subject to conditions.
- (2) A person-

- (a) whose application for authority to nominate adjudicators for the purposes of this Act is refused (otherwise than on the ground referred to in subsection (1A)(b)), or
- (b) whose authority to nominate adjudicators is withdrawn or is given subject to conditions,

may apply to the Civil and Administrative Tribunal for an administrative review under the *Administrative Decisions Review Act 1997* of the Minister's decision to take that action.

- (3) An authorised nominating authority may charge a fee for any service provided by the authority in connection with an adjudication application made to the authority. The amount that may be charged for any such service must not exceed the amount (if any) determined by the Minister.
- (4) The claimant and respondent are—
  - (a) jointly and severally liable to pay any such fee, and
  - (b) each liable to contribute to the payment of any such fee in equal proportions or in such proportions as the adjudicator to whom the adjudication application is referred may determine.
- (5) An authorised nominating authority must provide the Minister with such information as may be requested by the Minister in relation to the activities of the authority under this Act (including information as to the fees charged by the authority under this Act).

# 28A Code of practice for authorised nominating authorities

- (1) The Minister may, by order published on the NSW legislation website, make a code of practice to be observed by an authorised nominating authority in relation to its activities under this Act. The order is to set out the code of practice.
- (2) The code of practice takes effect on the day on which the order is published or, if the order specifies a later date for commencement, on the later date.
- (3) The Minister may, by order published on the NSW legislation website, amend or repeal the code of practice.
- (4) An authorised nominating authority that contravenes a provision of the code of practice that is identified in the code as an "offence provision" is guilty of an offence under this section.

Maximum penalty—50 penalty units.

(5) The Minister may withdraw a person's authority to nominate adjudicators for the purposes of this Act if the Minister is satisfied that the person has contravened a provision of the code of practice. Nothing in this subsection limits—

- (a) the grounds on which the Minister may withdraw any such authority under section 28, or
- (b) the right of a person under that section to apply to the Civil and Administrative Tribunal for an administrative review under the Administrative Decisions Review Act 1997 of the Minister's decision to withdraw the authority.

# 29 Adjudicator's fees

- (1) An adjudicator is entitled to be paid for adjudicating an adjudication application—
  - (a) such amount, by way of fees and expenses, as is agreed between the adjudicator and the parties to the adjudication, or
  - (b) if no such amount is agreed, such amount, by way of fees and expenses, as is reasonable having regard to the work done and expenses incurred by the adjudicator.
- (2) The claimant and respondent are jointly and severally liable to pay the adjudicator's fees and expenses.
- (3) The claimant and respondent are each liable to contribute to the payment of the adjudicator's fees and expenses in equal proportions or in such proportions as the adjudicator may determine.
- (4) An adjudicator is not entitled to be paid any fees or expenses in connection with the adjudication of an adjudication application if he or she fails to make a decision on the application (otherwise than because the application is withdrawn or the dispute between the claimant and respondent is resolved) within the time allowed by section 21(3).
- (5) Subsection (4) does not apply—
  - (a) in circumstances in which an adjudicator refuses to communicate his or her decision on an adjudication application until his or her fees and expenses are paid, or
  - (b) in such other circumstances as may be prescribed by the regulations for the purposes of this section.

# 30 Protection from liability for adjudicators and authorised nominating authorities

- (1) An adjudicator is not personally liable for anything done or omitted to be done in good faith—
  - (a) in exercising the adjudicator's functions under this Act, or
  - (b) in the reasonable belief that the thing was done or omitted to be done in the exercise of the adjudicator's functions under this Act.

- (2) No action lies against an authorised nominating authority or any other person with respect to anything done or omitted to be done by the authorised nominating authority in good faith—
  - (a) in exercising the nominating authority's functions under this Act, or
  - (b) in the reasonable belief that the thing was done or omitted to be done in the exercise of the nominating authority's functions under this Act.

#### **31 Service of documents**

- Any document that by or under this Act is authorised or required to be served on a person may be served on the person—
  - (a) by delivering it to the person personally, or
  - (b) by lodging it during normal office hours at the person's ordinary place of business, or
  - (c) by sending it by post addressed to the person's ordinary place of business, or
  - (d) by email to an email address specified by the person for the service of documents of that kind, or
  - (d1) by any other method authorised by the regulations for the service of documents of that kind, or
  - (e) in the case of service by a party to a construction contract on another party to the construction contract—in the manner that may be provided under the construction contract.
- (2) Service of a document that is sent to a person's ordinary place of business, as referred to in subsection (1)(c), is taken to have been effected when the document is received at that place.
- (3) The provisions of this section are in addition to, and do not limit or exclude, the provisions of any other law with respect to the service of documents.
- (4) In this section—

document includes written notice or determination.

serve includes give, send or otherwise provide.

#### 32 Effect of Part on civil proceedings

- Subject to section 34, nothing in this Part affects any right that a party to a construction contract—
  - (a) may have under the contract, or

- (b) may have under Part 2 in respect of the contract, or
- (c) may have apart from this Act in respect of anything done or omitted to be done under the contract.
- (2) Nothing done under or for the purposes of this Part affects any civil proceedings arising under a construction contract, whether under this Part or otherwise, except as provided by subsection (3).
- (3) In any proceedings before a court or tribunal in relation to any matter arising under a construction contract, the court or tribunal—
  - (a) must allow for any amount paid to a party to the contract under or for the purposes of this Part in any order or award it makes in those proceedings, and
  - (b) may make such orders as it considers appropriate for the restitution of any amount so paid, and such other orders as it considers appropriate, having regard to its decision in those proceedings.

#### 32A Finding of jurisdictional error in adjudicator's determination

- (1) If, in any proceedings before the Supreme Court relating to any matter arising under a construction contract, the Court makes a finding that a jurisdictional error has occurred in relation to an adjudicator's determination under this Part, the Court may make an order setting aside the whole or any part of the determination.
- (2) Without limiting subsection (1), the Supreme Court may identify the part of the adjudicator's determination affected by jurisdictional error and set aside that part only, while confirming the part of the determination that is not affected by jurisdictional error.

# 32B Application of Part to a claimant in liquidation

- A corporation in liquidation cannot serve a payment claim on a person under this Part or take action under this Part to enforce a payment claim (including by making an application for adjudication of the claim) or an adjudication determination.
- (2) If a corporation in liquidation has made an adjudication application that is not finally determined immediately before the day on which it commenced to be in liquidation, the application is taken to have been withdrawn on that day.

# Part 3A Investigation and enforcement powers

# **Division 1 Preliminary**

# **32C** Authorised officers

(1) In this Part—

# authorised officer means-

- (a) a person employed in the Department who is appointed under this Part as an authorised officer, or
- (b) an investigator appointed under section 18 of the *Fair Trading Act* 1987.
- (2) The Secretary may appoint persons employed in the Department as authorised officers for the purposes of this Part.
- (3) A person appointed under subsection (2) is to be provided by the Secretary with a certificate of identification.
- (4) An authorised officer must, when exercising on any premises any function of the authorised officer under this Part, produce the officer's certificate of identification to any person apparently in charge of the premises who requests its production.

#### 32D Purposes for which functions under Part may be exercised

- (1) An authorised officer may exercise the functions conferred by this Part for any of the following purposes—
  - (a) for the purpose of investigating, monitoring and enforcing compliance with the requirements imposed by or under this Act,
  - (b) for obtaining information or records connected with the administration of this Act,
  - (c) for the purpose of administering or executing this Act.
- (2) In this Part, a reference to an **authorised purpose** is a reference to any purpose referred to in subsection (1).

#### 32E Extraterritorial application

A notice may be given under this Part to a person in respect of a matter even though the person is outside the State or the matter occurs outside the State, so long as the matter affects or relates to construction work carried out in the State or to related goods and services supplied in the State.

# **Division 2 Information gathering powers**

#### 32F Exercise in conjunction with other powers

A power conferred by this Division may be exercised whether or not a power of entry under Division 3 is being exercised.

#### **32G** Power of authorised officers to require information and records

(1) An authorised officer may, by notice in writing given to a person, require the person to furnish to the officer such information or records (or both) as the officer may require

for an authorised purpose.

- (2) A notice under this Division must specify the manner in which information or records are required to be furnished and a reasonable time by which the information or records are required to be furnished.
- (3) A notice under this Division may only require a person to furnish existing records that are in the person's possession or that are within the person's power to obtain lawfully.
- (4) The person to whom any record is furnished under this Division may take copies of it.
- (5) If any record required to be furnished under this Division is in electronic, mechanical or other form, the notice requires the record to be furnished in written form, unless the notice otherwise provides.

#### 32H Power of authorised officers to require answers

- (1) An authorised officer may require a person whom the authorised officer suspects on reasonable grounds to have knowledge of matters in respect of which information is reasonably required for an authorised purpose to answer questions in relation to those matters.
- (2) An authorised officer may, by notice in writing, require a corporation to nominate, in writing within the time specified in the notice, a director or officer of the corporation to be the corporation's representative for the purpose of answering questions under this section.
- (3) Answers given by a person nominated under subsection (2) bind the corporation.
- (4) An authorised officer may, by notice in writing, require a person to attend at a specified place and time to answer questions under this section if attendance at that place is reasonably required in order that the questions can be properly put and answered.
- (5) The place and time at which a person may be required to attend under subsection (4) is to be—
  - (a) a place and time nominated by the person, or
  - (b) if the place and time nominated is not reasonable in the circumstances or a place and time is not nominated by the person, a place and time nominated by the authorised officer that is reasonable in the circumstances.

## **Division 3 Entry to premises**

#### **32I** Power of authorised officers to enter premises

(1) An authorised officer may enter premises at any reasonable time.

(2) Entry to premises may be effected with or without the authority of a search warrant.

#### 32J Entry into residential premises only with permission or search warrant

This Division does not empower an authorised officer to enter a part of premises that is used predominantly for residential purposes without the permission of the occupier or the authority of a search warrant.

#### 32K Search warrants

- (1) An authorised officer under this Act may apply to an issuing officer for the issue of a search warrant if the authorised officer believes on reasonable grounds that—
  - (a) a requirement imposed by or under this Act is being or has been contravened at any premises, or
  - (b) there is, in or on any premises, matter or a thing that is connected with an offence under this Act or the regulations.
- (2) An issuing officer to whom such an application is made may, if satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for doing so, issue a search warrant authorising an authorised officer named in the warrant and any other person named in the warrant—
  - (a) to enter the premises, and
  - (b) to exercise any function of an authorised officer under this Part.
- (3) Division 4 of Part 5 of the *Law Enforcement (Powers and Responsibilities) Act 2002* applies to a search warrant issued under this section.
- (4) Without limiting the generality of section 71 of the *Law Enforcement (Powers and Responsibilities) Act 2002*, a police officer may—
  - (a) accompany an authorised officer executing a search warrant issued under this section, and
  - (b) take all reasonable steps to assist the authorised officer in the exercise of the officer's functions under this section.
- (5) In this section—

*issuing officer* means an authorised officer within the meaning of the *Law Enforcement (Powers and Responsibilities) Act 2002.* 

#### 32L Power to require owner or occupier to provide assistance

An authorised officer proposing to exercise a power of entry under this Division may, by notice in writing given to the owner or occupier of the premises, require the owner or occupier to provide such reasonable assistance and facilities as are specified in the notice within a specified time and in a specified manner.

#### **32M** Powers that can be exercised on premises

- (1) An authorised officer may, at any premises lawfully entered, do anything that in the opinion of the authorised officer is reasonably necessary to be done for an authorised purpose, including (but not limited to) the things specified in subsection (2).
- (2) An authorised officer may do any or all of the following-
  - (a) make examinations and inquiries that the authorised officer considers necessary,
  - (b) direct a person to produce records for inspection,
  - (c) examine and inspect records,
  - (d) copy records,
  - (e) seize anything that the authorised officer has reasonable grounds for believing is connected with an offence against this Act or the regulations,
  - (f) do anything else authorised by or under this Act.
- (3) The power to seize anything connected with an offence includes a power to seize—
  - (a) a thing with respect to which the offence has been committed, and
  - (b) a thing that will afford evidence of the commission of the offence, and
  - (c) a thing that was used for the purpose of committing the offence.
- (4) The power to do a thing under this section includes a power to arrange for that thing to be done.
- (5) A power to do something under this section in relation to a thing may be exercised without the consent of the owner of the thing.
- (6) In this section, a reference to an offence includes a reference to an offence that there are reasonable grounds for believing has been committed.

#### 32N Dealing with seized things

- (1) An authorised officer who seizes any thing under this Division on any premises must issue the person apparently in charge of the premises with a written receipt for the thing seized.
- (2) An authorised officer may retain any thing seized under this Division until the completion of proceedings (including proceedings on appeal) in which it may be evidence.
- (3) A record may only be retained under subsection (2) if the person from whom the record was seized is provided, within a reasonable time after the seizure, with a copy

of the record certified by the authorised officer as a true copy. The copy is, as evidence, of equal validity to the record of which it is certified to be a copy.

(4) Subsection (2) ceases to have effect in relation to anything seized if, on the application of a person aggrieved by the seizure, the court in which proceedings referred to in that subsection are commenced so orders.

## **Division 4 Offences**

#### 320 Failure to comply with requirement under Part

(1) A person must not, without reasonable excuse, refuse or fail to comply with a requirement made of the person under this Part.

Maximum penalty-

- (a) in the case of a corporation—40 penalty units, or
- (b) in the case of an individual—20 penalty units.
- (2) A person is not guilty of an offence of failing to comply with a requirement under this Part to furnish records or information or to answer a question unless the person was warned on that occasion that a failure to comply is an offence.

#### 32P False or misleading information

A person must not provide information or a record or give an answer in purported compliance with a requirement made under this Part knowing that the information, record or answer is false or misleading in a material respect.

Maximum penalty—

- (a) in the case of a corporation—500 penalty units, or
- (b) in the case of an individual—100 penalty units.

#### 32Q Obstruction of authorised officer

(1) A person must not, without reasonable excuse, delay, hinder or obstruct an authorised officer in the exercise of the officer's functions under this Part.

Maximum penalty-

- (a) in the case of a corporation—40 penalty units, or
- (b) in the case of an individual—20 penalty units.
- (2) It is a defence to an offence under this section if the person charged establishes that the authorised officer failed to produce the authorised officer's certificate of identification when requested to do so.

## Part 4 Miscellaneous

#### 33 Act binds Crown

This Act binds the Crown in right of New South Wales and, in so far as the legislative power of Parliament permits, the Crown in all its other capacities.

#### 34 No contracting out

- (1) The provisions of this Act have effect despite any provision to the contrary in any contract.
- (2) A provision of any agreement (whether in writing or not)—
  - (a) under which the operation of this Act is, or is purported to be, excluded, modified or restricted (or that has the effect of excluding, modifying or restricting the operation of this Act), or
  - (b) that may reasonably be construed as an attempt to deter a person from taking action under this Act,

is void.

#### **34A Proceedings for offences**

- (1) Proceedings for an offence against this Act or the regulations may be dealt with summarily before the Local Court.
- (2) Proceedings for an offence against this Act or the regulations may be commenced within, but not later than, 2 years after the date on which the offence is alleged to have been committed.

#### 34B Penalty notices

- An authorised officer within the meaning of Part 3A may issue a penalty notice to a person if it appears to the officer that the person has committed a penalty notice offence.
- (2) A penalty notice offence is an offence against this Act or the regulations that is prescribed by the regulations as a penalty notice offence.

(3) The *Fines Act 1996* applies to a penalty notice issued under this section.

#### Note-

The *Fines Act 1996* provides that, if a person issued with a penalty notice does not wish to have the matter determined by a court, the person may pay the amount specified in the notice and is not liable to any further proceedings for the alleged offence.

(4) The amount payable under a penalty notice issued under this section is the amount prescribed for the alleged offence by the regulations (not exceeding the maximum

amount of penalty that could be imposed for the offence by a court).

(5) This section does not limit the operation of any other provision of, or made under, this or any other Act relating to proceedings that may be taken in respect of offences.

# 34C Liability of directors etc for offences by corporation—accessory to the commission of offences

- (1) For the purposes of this section, a *corporate offence* is an offence against this Act or the regulations that is capable of being committed by a corporation.
- (2) A person commits an offence against this section if—
  - (a) a corporation commits a corporate offence, and
  - (b) the person is—
    - (i) a director of the corporation, or
    - (ii) an individual who is involved in the management of the corporation and who is in a position to influence the conduct of the corporation in relation to the commission of the corporate offence, and
  - (c) the person—
    - (i) aids, abets, counsels or procures the commission of the corporate offence, or
    - (ii) induces, whether by threats or promises or otherwise, the commission of the corporate offence, or
    - (iii) conspires with others to effect the commission of the corporate offence, or
    - (iv) is in any other way, whether by act or omission, knowingly concerned in, or party to, the commission of the corporate offence.

Maximum penalty—The maximum penalty for the corporate offence if committed by an individual.

- (3) The prosecution bears the legal burden of proving the elements of the offence against this section.
- (4) The offence against this section can only be prosecuted by a person who can bring a prosecution for the corporate offence.
- (5) This section does not affect the liability of the corporation for the corporate offence, and applies whether or not the corporation is prosecuted for, or convicted of, the corporate offence.
- (6) This section does not affect the application of any other law relating to the criminal liability of any persons (whether or not directors or other managers of the corporation)

who are concerned in, or party to, the commission of the corporate offence.

# 34D Liability of directors etc for specified offences by corporation—offences attracting executive liability

- (1) For the purposes of this section, an *executive liability offence* is—
  - (a) an offence against section 13(7) or (8) that is committed by a corporation, or
  - (b) an offence against the regulations that—
    - (i) is created under section 12A, and
    - (ii) is prescribed by the regulations as an offence to which this section applies, and
    - (iii) is committed by a corporation.
- (2) A person commits an offence against this section if—
  - (a) a corporation commits an executive liability offence, and
  - (b) the person is—
    - (i) a director of the corporation, or
    - (ii) an individual who is involved in the management of the corporation and who is in a position to influence the conduct of the corporation in relation to the commission of the executive liability offence, and
  - (c) the person—
    - (i) knows that the executive liability offence (or an offence of the same type) would be or is being committed or is recklessly indifferent as to whether it would be or is being committed, and
    - (ii) fails to take all reasonable steps to prevent or stop the commission of that offence.

Maximum penalty—200 penalty units.

- (3) The prosecution bears the legal burden of proving the elements of the offence against this section.
- (4) The offence against this section can only be prosecuted by a person who can bring a prosecution for the executive liability offence.
- (5) This section does not affect the liability of the corporation for the executive liability offence, and applies whether or not the corporation is prosecuted for, or convicted of, the executive liability offence.

- (6) This section does not affect the application of any other law relating to the criminal liability of any persons (whether or not directors or other managers of the corporation) who are accessories to the commission of the executive liability offence or are otherwise concerned in, or party to, the commission of the executive liability offence.
- (7) In this section—

*director* has the same meaning it has in the *Corporations Act 2001* of the Commonwealth.

**reasonable steps**, in relation to the commission of an executive liability offence, includes, but is not limited to, such action (if any) of the following kinds as is reasonable in all the circumstances—

- (a) action towards—
  - (i) assessing the corporation's compliance with the provision creating the executive liability offence, and
  - (ii) ensuring that the corporation arranged regular professional assessments of its compliance with the provision,
- (b) action towards ensuring that the corporation's employees, agents and contractors are provided with information, training, instruction and supervision appropriate to them to enable them to comply with the provision creating the executive liability offence so far as the provision is relevant to them,
- (c) action towards ensuring that—
  - (i) the plant, equipment and other resources, and
  - (ii) the structures, work systems and other processes,

relevant to compliance with the provision creating the executive liability offence are appropriate in all the circumstances,

(d) action towards creating and maintaining a corporate culture that does not direct, encourage, tolerate or lead to non-compliance with the provision creating the executive liability offence.

#### 35 Regulations

- (1) The Governor may make regulations, not inconsistent with this Act, for or with respect to any matter that by this Act is required or permitted to be prescribed or that is necessary or convenient to be prescribed for carrying out or giving effect to this Act.
- (2) The regulations may, either unconditionally or subject to conditions, exempt—
  - (a) any specified person or class of persons, or

(b) any specified matter or class of matters,

from the operation of this Act or of any specified provision of this Act.

- (3) The commencement of a regulation referred to in section 5, 6 or 7 does not affect the operation of this Act with respect to construction work carried out, or related goods and services supplied, under a construction contract entered into before that commencement.
- (4) The regulations may—
  - (a) prescribe information that is required to be provided to a subcontractor when entering into a construction contract, and
  - (b) create offences punishable by a penalty not exceeding 100 penalty units in relation to that requirement, and
  - (c) apply, adopt or incorporate any publication as in force at a particular time or as in force from time to time.

#### 36 Disclosure of information

A person must not disclose any information obtained in connection with the administration or execution of this Act unless that disclosure is made—

- (a) with the consent of the person from whom the information was obtained, or
- (b) in connection with the administration or execution of this Act, or
- (c) for the purposes of legal proceedings arising out of this Act or for the purposes of a report of legal proceedings, or
- (d) in accordance with a requirement imposed under the Ombudsman Act 1974, or
- (e) with other lawful excuse.

Maximum penalty—100 penalty units.

#### 36A Delegation

The Minister may delegate the exercise of any function of the Minister under this Act (other than this power of delegation) to—

- (a) the Secretary, or
- (b) a person employed in a Public Service agency responsible to the Minister, or
- (c) a person, or a class of persons, authorised for the purposes of this section by the regulations.

#### 36B (Repealed)

## 37 Savings and transitional provisions

Schedule 2 has effect.

### 38 Review of Act

- (1) The Minister is to review this Act to determine whether the policy objectives of the Act remain valid and whether the terms of the Act remain appropriate for securing those objectives.
- (2) The review is to be undertaken as soon as possible after the period of 3 years from the date of assent to this Act.
- (3) A report on the outcome of the review is to be tabled in each House of Parliament within 3 months after the end of the period of 3 years.
- (4) A further review of this Act (as amended by the *Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2002*) is to be undertaken by the Minister as soon as possible after the period of 12 months from the commencement of Schedule 1[29] to that Act.
- (5) A report on the outcome of the further review is to be tabled in each House of Parliament within 3 months after the end of that period of 12 months.

# Schedule 1 (Repealed)

# Schedule 2 Savings and transitional provisions

(Section 37)

# Part 1 Preliminary

#### 1 Savings and transitional regulations

- (1) The regulations may contain provisions of a savings or transitional nature consequent on the enactment of this Act or any Act that amends this Act.
- (2) Such a provision may, if the regulations so provide, take effect from the date of assent to the Act concerned or a later day.
- (3) To the extent to which such a provision takes effect from a date that is earlier than the date of its publication in the Gazette, the provision does not operate so as—
  - (a) to affect, in a manner prejudicial to any person (other than the State or an authority of the State), the rights of that person existing before the date of that publication, or
  - (b) to impose liabilities on any person (other than the State or an authority of the State) in respect of anything done or omitted to be done before the date of that

publication.

# Part 2 Provisions consequent on enactment of Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Act 1999

#### 2 Certain construction contracts not affected

A provision of this Act does not apply to a construction contract entered into before the commencement of that provision.

## Part 3 Provisions consequent on enactment of Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2002

#### 3 Application of amendments

An amendment made to this Act by the *Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2002* does not apply to or in respect of a payment claim served before the commencement of the amendment and any such payment claim is to be dealt with in accordance with this Act as if the amendment had not been made.

## Part 4 Provisions consequent on enactment of Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2010

#### 4 Application of amendments

An amendment made to this Act by the *Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2010* extends to matters arising before the commencement of the amendment (including an adjudication application made before that commencement and pending on that commencement).

## Part 5 Provision consequent on enactment of Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2013

#### 5 Application of amendments

An amendment made to this Act by the *Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2013* does not apply in relation to a construction contract entered into before the commencement of the amendment.

## Part 6 Provisions consequent on enactment of Building and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2018

#### 6 Application of amendments

Except as provided by the regulations, an amendment made to this Act by the *Building* and Construction Industry Security of Payment Amendment Act 2018 does not apply in relation to a construction contract entered into before the commencement of the amendment.